FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/20/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/20/2023 10:54 AM

No.

102404-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VIRGINIA CHIU and VINCENT LIEW,
Petitioners,
v.
BRIAN HOSKINS,
Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mafe Rajul, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AUGUST 21, 2023 CORRECTED DECISION IN 83734-6-I

> ERIN C. SPERGER, WSBA No. 45931 Attorney for Petitioners

> > LEGAL WELLSPRING, PS 2367 Tacoma Ave. S Tacoma, WA 98402

I. IDENTITY OF THE MOVING PARTY

Petitioners, Virginia Chiu and Dr. Vincent Liew, through their attorney of record, Erin C. Sperger, move this Court for the relief designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request review of the Court of Appeals' August 21, 2023 decision, which is attached as Appendix A.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- A. Whether a landlord is liable to a tenant for the full amount of his or her deposit when the landlord provides a partial "refund due" within the applicable statutory period in RCW 59.18.280.
- B. Whether SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) requires tenants to prove actual damages.
- C. Whether tenants can recover under both the RCW 59.18.260 and SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) when the landlord commits multiple violations under the SMC but only one overlaps with RCW 59.18.260.
- D. Whether the doctrine of accord and satisfaction prevents the landlord from agreeing to charge a specific amount for alleged damages, retain the amount agreed to, then bring a claim against the tenant for more than what was agreed to.

E. Whether SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) make a landlord liable for damages for each violation instead of one amount no matter how many violations the landlord commits.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts to this petition are set forth in Appellants' opening brief and in their motion for reconsideration and are incorporated by reference herein. In addition, the following facts are relevant:

Virginia Chiu and Dr. Vincent Liew (collectively the "Tenants") rented the property commonly known as the upper/main level unit of 5329 9th Ave. NE, Seattle, WA 98105 ("Premises"), from Brian Hoskins. Exh. 1. Their tenancy commenced on August 1, 2018 and ended July 31, 2019. Exh. 1. The parties agreed to extend the tenancy through August 31, 2019, but on July 16 Hoskins requested the Tenants move out on August 22 and they agreed. RP 402-03; CP 279; Exh. 20. Then

on August 12, the Tenants notified Hoskins they would be fully vacated on August 15, and they requested to return the keys to Espinosa on August 17. CP 283, 289-90; Exh. 20. The evidence in the record shows the Tenants vacated as requested because the unit was vacant on August 24 when Hoskins' new tenant performed a walkthrough. Exh. 42; RP 322.

The initial lease Hoskins provided to the Tenants included the following provisions:

5. **DEPOSIT.** Lessee to pay the sum of \$2800 as a deposit for the performance of Lessee's obligations, \$30 of the \$2800 deposit will be a non-refundable fee for repair and cleaning of the apartment upon vacating. This deposit does not limit Owner's rights or Lessee's obligations. The Owner shall have the right to proceed against the Lessee to recover costs for cleaning. which exceed the amount of ... Cleaning Fee... CP 150; Exh. 1.

The Lease Addendum, signed by Appellants on August 3, 2019 included the following provisions:

In addition to the deposit, lessee agrees to pay \$300 as a non-refundable fee for move in expenses... The Owner shall have the right to proceed against the Lessee to recover costs for cleaning...

Exh. 28. (emphasis added).

After Chiu and Liew vacated, Hoskins sent them an email on September 6, 2019, listing some items he was going to deduct from their deposit. CP 292. After the Tenants disputed some of the charges, Hoskins agreed to reduce the landscaping and repair charges to account for items the Tenants said were already broken when they moved in. Hoskins mailed a check to the Tenants for \$346.13 on September 20, 2019. CP 292-96, 307.

On November 12, 2019, more than 21 days after they vacated and more than 21 days after the lease extension was initially supposed to terminate on August 31, 2019, Hoskins mailed another refund check to the Tenants for \$188. CP 306.

The Tenants filed their amended complaint against Hoskins, on February 3, 2021, which alleged violations of SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) for including and attempting to enforce unlawful provisions and violating the RLTA (RCW 59.18.260 and .280) for failing to provide a written checklist and failing to

comply with the statutory requirements for returning a deposit.

CP 8-10.

On summary judgment, the trial court found Hoskins liable as a matter of law for, among other things, violating SMC 7.24.060(A)(2). CP 501.

Next, on summary judgment, the trial court stated that the parties negotiated the appropriate refund, and "any causes of action brought by the plaintiffs on issues pertaining to the refund of the security deposit.. on issues of... amounts paid will be dismissed." RP 30. If the trial court correctly concluded that the parties negotiated an appropriate refund of \$655 (Exh. 25) plus \$346.13 (Exh. 30) plus \$118 (Exh. 31), for a total of \$1,119.13, it necessarily implies the parties negotiated the retained amount of \$1,680.87 (\$2,800 less \$1,119.13). Yet, the trial court allowed Hoskins to recover \$2,346.93. CP 593. This amount included \$1,300 for the landscaping when Hoskins had already agreed to only charge \$1,000. Exh. 25, 26; CP 593. The award also

included \$76.25 for the refrigerator shelf, for which Hoskin had previously agreed to credit the Tenants \$100 because it was already broken when they moved in. Exh. 25, 26; CP 593.

On appeal, the Tenants argued the trial court violated the Tenants' right to due process when it applied the doctrine of Accord and Satisfaction against the Tenants but not against Hoskins. App.'s Opening Br. at 48. The Court of Appeals found this was not error because a trial court is not bound by its summary judgment rulings and can revise it at any time before entry of final judgment. *Chiu v. Hoskins*, No. 83734-6-I, Corrected Slip Opinion at 13 (August 21, 2023) (hereinafter "Opinion"). However, the Court of Appeals did not address the issue of whether the trial court unfairly applied the doctrine against one party but not the other.

The trial court dismissed the Tenants' claim under RCW 59.18.280. CP 500.

After trial, the trial court did not award statutory damages under SMC 7.24.060(A) because it found the Tenants had no actual damages. CP 590.

On appeal, the Appellants argued, among other things, that under both SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) damages are mandatory and tenants do not have to prove actual damages. The Court of Appeals agreed that SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) does not require proof of actual damages. Opinion at 1-2. In its corrected opinion after reconsideration, the Court of Appeals found that SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) does require actual damages.

Next, the Court of Appeals held "[n]or can Tenants simultaneously recover under both the SMC and the RLTA for each violation at issue here." Opinion at 9. The Court then used the example of Hoskins' failure to provide a checklist prior to taking the deposit to find the Tenants could not recover damages under both the SMC and RLTA because SMC 7.24.035(E) "precisely track[s]" the requirements in RCW 59.18.260. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, Hoskins committed three

violations of the SMC by including and attempting to enforce three separate provisions in the lease, two of them unrelated to the checklist, which did not track the requirements in RCW 59.18.260. Opinion at 8. Yet, the Court of Appeals precluded the Tenants from recovering any damages under RCW 59.18.260 because it mirrored one of the multiple violations Hoskins committed under SMC 7.24.060. Opinion at 9.

On appeal the Tenants argued that Hoskins failed to comply with RCW 59.18.280 because he failed to provide the deposit statement in the manner the statute requires, but also because he failed to provide the deposit statement "together with the refund due" within the applicable statutory time period. App. Op. Br. at 45-46. To support this argument, the Tenants pointed to evidence in the record that Hoskins made a second payment to them on November 12, 2019, which was well past the 21-day period regardless of whether it commenced on August 31 or earlier. CP 306. This showed that Hoskins knew he did not return the refund due at the time of the first payment.

Although the Court of Appeals denied the Tenants' motion for reconsideration on this issue, it corrected its opinion to address the argument in footnote 9 as follows:

While Hoskins made additional payments to Tenants after September 20, they relate to his continuing efforts to negotiate with Tenants regarding the amount of their deposit refund. Given the parties' ongoing negotiations and corresponding resolution, these additional payments do not violate the 21-day deadline specified in RCW 59.18.280(1). See Goodeill v. Madison Real Estate, 191 Wn. App. 88, 91, 362 P.3d 302 (2015) (requiring "conscientious attempt to comply with" statutory deadline).

Opinion at 13 fn. 9.

Finally, the Court of Appeals held that a landlord is only liable for actual or statutory damages one time no matter how many violations the landlord commits. Opinion at 8.

The Tenants now timely petition this Court to accept review of the issues outlined above.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' erroneous decision that Hoskins complied with RCW 59.18.280 by giving the tenants a partial refund due within 21-days after their lease ended then "negotiating" for the release of more in in conflict with this Court's precedent in Silver v. Rudeen Mgmt. Co., 197 Wn.2d 535, 484 P.3d 1251 (2021) and is an issue of substantial public concern which this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Former RCW 59.18.280¹ provides:

- (1) Within twenty-one days after the termination of the rental agreement and vacation of the premises or, if the tenant abandons the premises as defined in RCW 59.18.310, within twenty-one days after the landlord learns of the abandonment, the landlord shall give a full and specific statement of the basis for retaining any of the deposit together with the payment of any refund due the tenant under the terms and conditions of the rental agreement.
- (2) If the landlord fails to give such statement together with any refund due the tenant within the time limits specified above he or she shall be liable to the tenant for the full amount of the deposit. The landlord is also barred in any action brought by the tenant to recover the deposit from asserting any claim or raising any defense for

¹ The statute changed in 2023 to now allow 30 days.

retaining any of the deposit unless the landlord shows that circumstances beyond the landlord's control prevented the landlord from providing the statement within the twenty-one days or that the tenant abandoned the premises as defined in RCW **59.18.310**.

As this Court discussed in *Silver v. Rudeen*, this 21-day period is imperative because statutes that impose strict obligations and meaningful remedies are the only way to hold landlords accountable to respecting tenants' rights." Silver, 197 Wn.2d at 546. This is because "in many cases the amount in controversy will prevent one from going to court. For example, a tenant might feel that he was entitled to \$20 of the security deposit, but he might feel that \$20 might be less than what it would cost him in time and trouble to go to court. ... If a simple procedure could be provided to insure swift and just results, these petty injustices might be avoided." Silver, 197 Wn.2d at 546 (citing Subcomm. on the Model Landlord-Tenant Act of Comm. on Leases, Proposed Uniform Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, 8 REAL PROP., PROB. & TR. J. 104, 110 (1973)).

Here, the Tenants argued on appeal that the 21-day period should have commenced on August 23 at the latest, which is the day after the parties agreed the Tenants would vacate. App. Op. Br. at 43-44. But even if the 21-day period commenced on August 24, when Hoskins had knowledge the unit was vacant, his September 20 partial refund was not within the applicable 21 days.

Further, even if the September 20 partial refund was within the applicable 21-day period, the fact that Hoskins made a second refund on November 12, 2019, which was not within 21 days of any of the possible commencement dates. This establishes that Hoskins did not provide the deposit statement "together with the refund due." If he had provided the refund due there would be no need for this second payment. Therefore, Hoskins violated RCW 59.18.280 as a matter of law.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly relied on *Goodeill*, 191 Wn. App. at 91, to find that Hoskins made a "conscientious attempt to comply with" the statutory deadline by "his continuing

efforts to negotiate with Tenants." Opinion at 13 fn. 9. But this is not the standard set forth in *Goodeill* or *Silver*. *Silver*, 197 Wn.2d at 546; *Goodeill*, 191 Wn. App. at 91.

A deposit is a tenant's personal property, which the landlord holds in trust as security for the tenant's performance under the lease. *Silver*, 197 Wn.2d at 549 (citing 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 6.53, at 397-401 (2d ed. 2004)). The landlord cannot withhold the deposit absent the tenant's breach. In order to retain any portion of the deposit for excessive damage beyond ordinary wear and tear, the landlord must provide a full and specific statement within the statutory period. *Silver*, 197 Wn.2d 535. A landlord cannot simply keep the tenant's personal property without justification until he negotiates a settlement.

This Court should accept review of this issue because it is an issue of substantial public concern not only to Seattle tenants

but to all Washington tenants. If this decision is allowed to stand, a landlord can simply comply with the statue by returning \$1 within the applicable period, knowing it is not the full "refund due" as required by RCW 59.18.280. This will defeat the purpose of the statute.

B. The Court of Appeals' erroneous decision that SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) requires tenants to prove actual damages is an issue of substantial public concern which this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals erred in reading into SMC 7.24.060(a)(2) a provision requiring actual damages that was not there.

SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) provides:

A landlord who includes provisions prohibited by subsection 7.24.030.B, Section 7.24.035, Section 7.24.036, or Section 7.24.038 in a new rental agreement, or in a renewal of an existing agreement, shall be liable to the tenant for up to \$3,000 plus reasonable attorney fees and costs.

The "fundamental objective in interpreting statutes 'is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent." *Lockett v.*

Saturno, 21 Wn. App. 2d 216, 222 (2022) (citing Silver, 197) Wn.2d at 542 (quoting Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9 (2002)). This Court construes a municipal ordinance according to the rules of statutory interpretation. City of Seattle v. Swanson, 193 Wn. App. 795, 810 (2016). "[I]f the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent.'" Seattle Hous. Auth. v. City of Seattle, 3 Wn. App. 2d 532, 538, 416 P.3d 1280 (2018) (alteration in original). Statutory analysis "begins with the text and, for most purposes, should end there as well." Malyon v. Pierce County, 131 Wn.2d 779, 799, 935 P.2d 1272 (1997). If the Court finds a statute's meaning is not plain, but "susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning," it is ambiguous. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). In that case, the Court applies cannons of statutory construction such as "avoid[ing] an interpretation that produces an absurd result" (Lockett, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 224 (citing Wright v. Jeckle, 158 Wn.2d 375, 379-80 (2006)),

constitutional avoidance (*Stout v. Felix*, 198 Wn.2d 180, 199 (2021)) and legislative history. *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 12.

However, a court "do[es] not have the power to read into a statute that which [it] may believe the legislature has omitted, be it an intentional or an inadvertent omission." *State v. Brake*, 15 Wn .App. 2d 740, 747, 476 P.3d 1094 (2020) (citing *State v. Martin*, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 (1980)).

Here, the plain language of SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) does not require actual damages. Thus, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals had authority to read that requirement into the statute. Brake, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 747.

Further, requiring actual damages would produce an absurd result because there are few scenarios where a tenant would incur actual damages as a result of a landlord including an unlawful provision in the lease. This is particularly true if a tenant discovers it is unlawful before signing the lease or before the landlord has a chance to enforce it.

This Court should accept review of this issue because it raises a substantial issue of concern to consumers in Seattle, which has a population of approximately 750,000 people, of which 54.8% are tenants. See United State Census, 2020 Quick Facts Seattle city, Washington available at https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/seattlecitywashing ton/PST045222 (last visited 9/19/23).

C. The Court of Appeals' erroneous decision that tenants cannot recover under both the RCW 59.18.260 and SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) when the landlord commits multiple violations under the SMC but only one overlaps with RCW 59.18.260 an issue of substantial public concern which this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded that when a landlord included and attempts to enforce multiple unlawful provisions tenants cannot recover under both SMC 7.24.060(A)(1), for violating SMC 7.24.035(E), and under RCW 59.18.260 if one of the multiple violations is failing to provide a move in checklist. Opinion at 9.

Here, the unlawful lease provisions Hoskins included are and related to (a) the excessive security deposit, (b) the excessive non-refundable cleaning fee, and (c) the unsigned checklist. Opinion at 8. The Court of Appeals held the Tenants cannot recover under both SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and RCW 59.18.260 because one of the violations Hoskins committed relates to SMC 7.24.035(E), which "precisely track[s] the requirements in RCW 59.18.260." However, the other two violations did not track the requirements in RCW 59.18.260.

The Tenants should be allowed to recover under RCW 59.18.260 for their claim regarding the failure to provide a checklist, but under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2) for the other two violations. This would not be double recovery since they would be entitled to damages in the amount of double their deposit under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) even if they did not bring a claim regarding the checklist. Thus, there is no legal basis for limiting the Tenants' recovery to only damages under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) or RCW 59.18.260 when only one of the multiple

violations overlap.

Further, there is no legal basis for limiting damages under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) regarding the checklist because the unlawful conduct in (A)(2) is *including* an unlawful provision while the unlawful conduct in RCW 59.18.260 is failing to include a provision for the return of the deposit or the act of unlawfully collecting or withholding the deposit. These clearly do not precisely track each other. (emphasis added). Put another way, SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) and RCW 59.18.260 do not define the same injury. Therefore, recovery under both is not a double recovery and is not prohibited. Cf. Opinion at 9 (citing Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kelly, 60 Wn. App. 610, 618, 805 P.2d 822 (1991) ("it is a basic principle of damages... that there shall be no double recovery for the same injury.")).

D. The Court of Appeals' erroneous decision that a landlord can negotiate an agreed upon amount then still sue the Tenant for more violates the well-established doctrine of accord and satisfaction, the Tenants' Fourteenth Amendment right to due process, and raises an issue of substantial public concern which this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b) (3) and (4).

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