## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/21/2023 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102404-5

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 83734-6-I

VIRGINIA CHIU and VINCENT LIEW,

Petitioners,

v.

BRIAN HOSKINS,

Respondent,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY RESPONDENT BRIAN HOSKINS

\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID CORBETT PLLC
David J. Corbett, WSBA No. 30895
2106 N. Steele Street
Tacoma, WA 98406
Telephone: (253) 414-5235
david@davidcorbettlaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

#### **

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

<sup>28</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Former RCW 59.18.280(1). If one adopts the perspective of November 8, 2019—the date on which Hoskins made the final refund of \$118 (CP 107)—the result remains the same: Hoskins refunded *more* than was due. In that case, the calculation is as follows: \$2,800 total deposit - \$655 refund on August 4, 2019 – \$346.13 refund on September 20, 2019 - \$118.00 refund on November 8, 2019 - \$154 total utility charges - \$1,300 landscaping charges - \$300 cleaning charges = **-\$73.13**. November 8, 2019, was approximately two weeks before Tenants filed their initial Complaint. CP 42-61. <sup>29</sup> *Compare* Petition for Review, at p. 10 and pp. 12-13, and *Chiu*, 534 P.3d at 421 and n. 9. <sup>30</sup> *Id*.

In addition, *Silver* focuses on the statute of limitations for a claim under RCW 59.18.280.<sup>31</sup> There is no statute of limitations issue here. *Silver* also discusses the legislative intent behind RCW 59.18.280, but makes no holding regarding how to resolve disputes about the amount of the refund "due . . . under . . . the rental agreement."<sup>32</sup> There is thus no conflict reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(1).<sup>33</sup>

Finally, determining the "refund due the tenant under the terms and conditions of the rental agreement" is clearly a fact-specific undertaking. The demonstrably correct resolution of this matter here in favor of Hoskins does not create any issue of "substantial public interest" reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Hoskins submits that this conclusion is reinforced by the <u>new</u> RCW 59.18.280(4), which as of July 23,2023 states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See, e.g., Silver, 197 Wn.2d at 538.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Former RCW 59.18.280(1). *Compare Silver*, 197 Wn.2d at 549-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Compare Petition for Review, at p. 10. The Court of Appeals' reference to *Goodeill v. Madison Real Estate*, 191 Wn. App. 88, 362 P.3d 302 (2015) does not create any conflict reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(2), and Tenants do not even argue that it does. *Compare* Petition for Review (making no argument for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2)).

(4) The requirements with respect to checklists and documentation that are set forth in RCW 59.18.260 and this section do not apply to situations in which part or all of a security deposit is withheld by the landlord for reasons unrelated to damages to the premises, fixtures, equipment, appliances, and furnishings, such as for rent or other charges owing.

Utility deposits are clearly "unrelated to damages to the premises."<sup>34</sup> Even assuming this revision to the statute does not apply retroactively, the issue at stake here will probably cease to arise no later than August 2026.<sup>35</sup>

For the above reasons, this Court should deny review of Tenants' first issue.

2. The Court of Appeals' treatment of Tenants' claims under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) is reasonable, and not an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Current RCW 59.18.280(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See current RCW 59.18.280(4). See also Silver, 197 Wn.2d at 538 (holding that "a tenant's action under RCW 59.18.280 . . . is subject to [a] three-year statute of limitations"). See also Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 114 Wn.2d 42, 47, 785 P.2d 815, 818 (1990).

In the Brief of Respondent to the Court of Appeals, Hoskins "acknowledge[d] he included terms in the Rental Agreement calling for a security deposit and non-refundable move in fee exceeding the amounts allowed by SMC 7.24.035.A and B.4."<sup>36</sup> Hoskins therefore defended the trial court's decision not to make any award to Tenants under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) on the basis that its use of the phrase "up to \$3,000" gives a court discretion to award zero.<sup>37</sup> Since it is undisputed that Tenants suffered no actual damages, Hoskins thought (and still thinks) that the trial court's denial of an award under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) can be defended as within the trial court's discretion.<sup>38</sup>

However, while affirming that no award is due to Tenants under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2), the Court of Appeals based its decision on different grounds. The Court of Appeals reasoned as follows:

Unlike SMC 7.24.060(A)(1), which requires an award of statutory damages, SMC 7.24.060(A)(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Brief of Respondent, at p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>*Id.*, at pp. 40-41. A complete copy of SMC 7.24.060 is attached as Appendix B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id*.

requires proof of actual damages and limits recovery of those damages to "up to \$3,000." The trial court found that Tenants proved "no actual damages," and its finding is supported by substantial evidence. Thus, the trial court correctly denied recovery of both damages and attorney fees under SMC 7.24.060(A)(2).<sup>39</sup>

The Court of Appeals decision here is reasonable, and does not create a matter of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. 40 Crucially, SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) is silent on the question of whether the award of "up to \$3,000" depends on actual damages or is instead a statutory penalty. Tenants' argument that this silence makes it clear that the Seattle City Council intended a statutory penalty is not supported by the plain terms of the ordinance (the ordinance is silent), nor is it supported by any case law cited by Tenants or discoverable by counsel for Hoskins. 41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Chiu, 534 P.3d at 420 n.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Compare* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Wright v. Lyft, Inc., 189 Wn.2d 718, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017), the case on which Tenants principally relied below, is readily distinguishable, since it interprets a statute, RCW 19.190.040, which refers to both a fixed sum "or actual damages, whichever is greater." *Id.* at 729. Because SMC 7.24.060(A)(2) does not contain a similar reference to a fixed sum (except as a limit) or actual damages, Wright is not

## 3. Tenants' third and fifth issues both fail to justify acceptance of review, for related reasons.

Tenants' third and fifth issues for review both attempt to criticize the Court of Appeals for something it did not do. This can be seen most clearly by first considering Tenant's fifth issue for review (Petition for Review, Section V.E).

In Section V.E. of their Petition, Tenants assert that the Court of Appeals decided "that even when a landlord commits multiple violations of SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) and (2), the landlord is only liable for one amount of statutory or actual damages."<sup>42</sup> However, the Court of Appeals actually held that there was only one violation of SMC 7.24.060A(1) since the unit of violation

dispositive. See also Perez-Farias v. Glob. Horizons, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 518, 533, 286 P.3d 46, 53–54 (2012) (analyzing only statutes including the "the "whichever is greater" language missing from SMC 7.24.060(A)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Petition for Review, at p. 24 (emphasis added) See also id. at p. 9 (asserting that "the Court of Appeals held that a landlord is only liable for actual or statutory damages no matter how many violations the landlord commits").

under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) is the "attempt[] to enforce [improper] provisions" in a lease.<sup>43</sup>

Conceivably, Tenants meant to argue that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that there was only one violation of SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) on the facts of this case, but this is not what Tenants say. This Court should not grant review of an issue that Tenants do not raise.

Even if this Court were tempted to consider *sua sponte* the proper unit of violation under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1), RAP 13.4(b) provides no support for granting review. Specifically, the Court of Appeals' decision that enforcing multiple improper provisions in a single lease supports a single penalty is required by the plain meaning of SMC 7.24.060(A)(1).<sup>44</sup> Moreover, this conclusion does not conflict with *Queen City Sav. & Loan Ass'n v.* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> SMC 7.24.060(A)(1). *See also Chiu*, 534 P.3d at 419 (stating that "[a]s the plural 'provisions' shows, a landlord is liable for actual and statutory damages under SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) if the landlord enforces one or more unlawful provisions (plural) in a rental agreement") (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals also correctly held that there was no violation of SMC 7.24.060(A)(2). 534 P.3d at 420 n.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See SMC 7.24.060(A)(1), and Brief of Respondent, at pp. 61-64.

Mannhalt, 111 Wn.2d 503, 760 P.2d 350 (1988), or any other case cited by Tenants.

Queen City stands for the proposition that "a court may construe singular words in the plural and vice versa, unless such a construction would be repugnant to the context of the statute or inconsistent intention with the manifest ofthe Legislature."45 Here, SMC 7.24.060A(1) uses the plural "provisions", so the direct application of Queen City to SMC 7.24.060A(1) is that the term "provisions" should be interpreted to also include the singular, as in "one or more provisions." 46 This is precisely what the Court of Appeals did here.<sup>47</sup> Nonexistent conflicts do not support granting review.

Tenants' citation to *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 205, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) for the proposition that "the statutory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *Queen City*, 111 Wn.2d at 508. *See also* Petition for Review, at p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> See also State v. Marjama, 14 Wn. App. 2d 803, 807, 473 P.3d 1246 (2020), State v. Baggett, 103 Wn. App. 564, 570, 13 P.3d 659, 662 (2000), and Brief of Respondent to the Court of Appeals, at pp. 61-64 (arguing explicitly for the "one or more provisions" interpretation of SMC 7.24.060A(1)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> See Chiu, 534 P.3d at 419.

scheme must be read as a whole" is equally pointless. 48 This is a correct proposition, but it does Tenants no good. SMC 7.24.060A(1) clearly defines the unit of violation—the actions to which a penalty may be affixed—as an "attempt to enforce" one or more improper provisions in a lease. <sup>49</sup> Nothing else in Chapter 7.24 SMC is at odds with this clear meaning. That in a different Chapter of the SMC (Chapter 22.206 SMC) the Seattle City Council chose to define the unit of violation for a *different* list of building owner infractions on a "per incident, rather than ...per tenant, basis" does not support any inference that the City Council intended SMC 7.24.060A(1) to make each separate provision improperly included in a lease an independently punishable incident.<sup>50</sup> Indeed, to adopt Tenants reasoning here would require a substantial re-writing of both SMC 22.206.305 (the limited scope of which would be changed) and SMC 7.24.060A(1) (the precise language of which would be ignored). Tenants have failed to identify a proper basis for this Court to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Petition for Review, at p. 25. Tenant do not point out that they are citing to the dissent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> See Chiu, 534 P.3d at 419. See also SMC 7.24.060A(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> See SMC 22.206.305, which refers to acts "prohibited by Section 22.206.180."

review the Court of Appeals' decision regarding the unit of violation under SMC 7.24.060A(1).

Like their fifth issue for review, Tenants' third issue for review (Petition for Review, Section C) also relies on the misconception that the Court of Appeals held that the "landlord commit[ed] multiple violations under the SMC."<sup>51</sup> Again, this is not what the Court of Appeals held. The Court of Appeals held that Hoskins violated SMC 7.24.060(A)(1) once, which single violation was based on one attempted enforcement of three prohibited provisions.<sup>52</sup>

Thus, the only formulation of Tenants' third issue that would actually relate to this case is whether Tenants should be able to recover separately for *both* the single violation of SMC 7.24.060A(1) and the single violation of RCW 59.18.260 where each violation relates to the same lease and lease period, and where each violation is *sufficiently supported* by the collection of a security deposit without providing a signed checklist.<sup>53</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Petition for Review, at p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Chiu, 534 P.3d at 419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The Court of Appeals emphasized that checklist violation by itself is sufficient to support the one violation of SMC 7.24.060A(1) it found. *See Chiu*, 534 P.3d at 418.

Tenants did not cite to any relevant authority in support of such a claim on appeal, nor do they do so now.<sup>54</sup> If the Seattle City Council had wanted to allow separate penalties for each improper lease provision that a landlord attempted to enforce, it could have done so, but it clearly chose not to do so.<sup>55</sup> Application of SMC 7.24.060A(1) as written to the facts here means that Tenants' recovery under that provision is necessarily also a recovery for the checklist violation. Allowing Tenants to recover under both SMC 7.24.060A and RCW 59.18.260 on the facts of this case would be a double recovery. There is no justification for such an outcome here, and no "substantial public interest" in granting Tenants a windfall.<sup>56</sup> The Court should refuse to grant review on this issue.

#### 4. There is no constitutional question in this case.

Tenants' fourth issue for review (Petition for Review, Section V.D) is puzzling, but can be quickly disposed of.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See Chiu, 534 P.3d at 420 n.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> See SMC 7.24.060(A)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Recall that Tenants experienced no actual damages. *See Chiu*, 534 P.3d at 420 n.7 (noting that "[t]he trial court found that Tenants proved 'no actual damages,' and its finding is supported by substantial evidence").

Tenants assert a deprivation of their right to due process, citing to law which holds that "[t]he Due Process Clause entitles a person to an impartial and disinterested tribunal in both civil and criminal cases." But Tenants offer zero evidence that the trial court judge was biased against them. Instead, they simply take issue with the trial judge's initial application, and then retraction, of the doctrine of accord and satisfaction. 58

Unfortunately for Tenants, "[a]n adverse ruling, without more, does not support an inference of bias." <sup>59</sup> Moreover, Tenants identify <u>no</u> specific evidence or argument they sought to introduce, but were prevented from doing by a ruling of the judge. There is no basis for this Court's review here.

<sup>57</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc.*, 446 U.S. 238, 242, 100 S. Ct. 1610, 1613, 64 L.Ed.2d 182, 188 (1980). *See also* Petition for Review, at p. 20 (also citing to *In re Dependency of A.N.G.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 789, 459 P.3d 1099 (2020)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Petition for Review, at pp. 20-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See, e.g., Town of Skykomish v. Benz, Nos. 72735-4-I, 73030-4-I, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 693, at \*9 (Ct. App. Apr. 4, 2016) (unpublished but citable for its persuasive value under GR 14.1(a)). See also Larson v. Palmateer, 515 F.3d 1057, 1067 (9th Cir. 2008) (noting that "[i]n the absence of any evidence of some extrajudicial source of bias or partiality, neither adverse rulings nor impatient remarks are generally sufficient to overcome the presumption of judicial integrity").

# IV. HOSKINS' CONDITIONAL ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES IF THE COURT DETERMINES THIS CASE IS A MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

For the reasons stated above, Hoskins asks that the Court deny review. This case does not conflict with any published Court of Appeals case or any prior decision by this Court. On Nor does the case raise any significant question of constitutional law. However, if the Court decides to grant review on any of Tenants' issues on the grounds that they involve "issue[s] of substantial public importance that should be determined" by this Court, Hoskins asks that it also grant review of the following set of related issues:

- Whether SMC 7.24.060 is ambiguous;
- Whether SMC 7.24.060 is penal rather than remedial, and is therefore to be construed in favor of landlords;

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